FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
10/11/2021 8:50 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/11/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

STATE SUPREME COURT CASE No. 100262-9

Division III No. 362221

SUPREME COURT of the STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHERYL AND COLTON BEHR (APPELLANTS) v.

CHRISTOPHER ANDERSON, NORTHWEST ORTHOPEDIC SPECIALISTS, et al. (RESPONDENTS)

APPELLANTS' RAP 13.4 PETITION FOR REVIEW (Amended)

(Amended to Include Certification of RAP 18.17 Word Count)

Craig Mason, WSBA#32962 Attorney for Respondent W. 1707 Broadway Spokane, WA 99201 509-443-3681 masonlawcraig@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

Colton and Cheryl Behr, Plaintiffs in the trial court, and Appellants in Division III, Petition the State Supreme Court for Discretionary Review under RAP 13.4.

II. DIVISION III OPINION, REMANDING FOR TRIAL, AFTER THE BEHRS PREVAILED IN PART IN THEIR APPEAL.

The opinion for which discretionary review is *Behr v*.

Anderson, 491 P.3d 189 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021) (published in part). (Reconsideration denied 9/9/21.)

III. ERRORS RAISED TO DIVISION III and ISSUES FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

A. Division III Rulings and Remand for Trial

The following assignment of errors are quoted from the Opening Brief of the Appellants, filed in Division III by Colton and Cheryl Behr.

The Division III decisions, and the Behrs' requests for discretionary review, are indicated in **bold**, after the quoted assignment of error:

- A. Error No. 1 the 4/23/14 Dismissals of Dr. Lynch and Dr. Powers. (Error of Law). Reversed by Division III.
- B. Error No. 2 the Failure to Reinstate Dr. Lynch and Dr. Powers. (Error of Law, esp. that Denials of Discretionary Review were Substantive Decisions that "handcuffed" the judge.). Reversed by Division III.
- C. Error No. 3: Failure to Default on Liability as a Discovery Sanction. (Abuse of Discretion.) Upheld by Division III Discretionary Review is Requested.
- D. Error No. 4: Refusal to Instruct the Jury on Collective Responsibility (Team Liability/Grove Liability), including the Failure to Instruct on Entity Liability, and the denial of the Plaintiffs' proposed instructions, esp. P-12, P-13 and P-14. (Error of Law) Upheld in Part by Division III—Discretionary Review is Requested.
- E. Error No. 5: Refusal to Properly Instruct the Jury on the Standard of Care as Articulated by the Behrs' Experts (Cossman and Collier) Including a Variant on Res Ipsa Loquitur. (Error of Law) Upheld by Division III Discretionary Review is Requested.
- F. Error No. 6: Disallowing Orthopedic Expert Dr. Collier from Establishing the Standard of Care for Orthopedic Physician's Assistants. (Error of Law) Reversed by Division III.

- G. Error No. 7: Disallowing Testimony Regarding the Liability of NWOS Prior to 3p.m. on 12/10/10 (or 3p.m. on 12/11/10, as the Order Internally Conflicts). (Error of Law) Reversed by Division III.
- H. Error No. 8: The Court Erred to Dismiss Deaconess as a Matter of Law on the Causation Issue. (Error of Law) Upheld by Division III Discretionary Review is Not Requested.
- I. Error No. 9: Allowing Dr. Anderson to Change His Position at Trial and Thus Create an Informed Consent Case without Allowing the Behrs an Amended Complaint (and Informed Consent Instructions) or a New Trial. (Error of Law) Upheld by Division III – Discretionary Review is Requested.
- J. Error No. 10: Instruction on Error of Judgment on Lack of Informed Consent Facts. (Abuse of Discretion) Upheld by Division III Discretionary Review is Requested.
- K. Error No. 11: The Trial Court Erred Not to Continue the Trial, or Order a New Trial upon an Amended Complaint. (Abuse of Discretion rooted in Errors of Law) Upheld by Division III – Discretionary Review is Requested.

B. RAP 13.4 Discretionary Review Requests

The issues on appeal can be consolidated into the following three general issue categories, with a fourth category assigning Error to Division III for striking the Appellants' first brief and second appendix.

1. Issue Number One: From Part III.A, above:

C. Error No. 3: Failure to Default on Liability as a Discovery Sanction. (Abuse of Discretion.) Upheld by Division III – Discretionary Review is Requested.

Division III (and the trial court) should have defaulted Northwest Orthopedic Specialists (NWOS) on liability for NWOS's egregious discovery violations; alternatively, the Behr's motions to continue trial, or hold a new trial, as a sanction for those discovery violations, should have been granted. Default on liability is requested, or at least a full retrial of NWOS and its agents, with appropriate sanctions.

2. Issue Number Two: From Part III.A, above:

D. Error No. 4: Refusal to Instruct the Jury on Collective Responsibility (Team Liability/Grove Liability), including the Failure to Instruct on Entity Liability, and the denial of the Plaintiffs' proposed instructions, esp. P-12, P-13 and P-14. (Error of Law) Upheld in Part by Division III – Discretionary Review is Requested.

E. Error No. 5: Refusal to Properly Instruct the Jury on the Standard of Care as Articulated by the Behrs

Experts (Cossman and Collier) – Including a Variant on Res Ipsa Loquitur. (Error of Law) Upheld by Division III – Discretionary Review is Requested.

It was error for Division III (and the trial court) to refuse to instruct the jury on the standards of care submitted by the Plaintiffs' experts -- Dr. Collier and Dr. Cossman.

3. Issue Number Three: From Part III.A., above:

I. Error No. 9: Allowing Dr. Anderson to Change His Position at Trial and Thus Create an Informed Consent Case without Allowing the Behrs an Amended Complaint (and Informed Consent Instructions) or a New Trial. (Error of Law) Upheld by Division III— Discretionary Review is Requested.

J. Error No. 10: Instruction on Error of Judgment on Lack of Informed Consent Facts. (Abuse of Discretion) Upheld by Division III – Discretionary Review is Requested.

K. Error No. 11: The Trial Court Erred Not to Continue the Trial, or Order a New Trial upon an Amended Complaint. (Abuse of Discretion rooted in Errors of Law) Upheld by Division III – Discretionary Review is Requested.

Division III (and the trial court) should have ruled that the Error of Judgment Instruction was inapplicable to the Behr case. Alternatively, the courts below should have allowed amendment of the complaint to include an informed consent claim.

NOTE: The State Supreme Court is also asked to revisit the Exercise of Judgment Instruction, generally, a request that could not have been made of Division III, as *Fergen v. Sestero*, upheld the instruction, albeit under rigorously specific circumstances. 182 Wash.2d 794,346 P.3d 708 (2015). However, trial courts continue to promiscuously use the "exercise of judgment" instruction. See, e.g., *Needham v. Dreyer*, 11 Wash.App.2d 479, 454 P.3d 136 (2019).

4. Issue Number Four: Division III erred to reject the November, 2019, Opening Brief, and erred to strike the Appendix from the December, 2019, Opening Brief that was accepted by Division III.

Given the sheer complexity of the appeal, the 94-page
November, 2019, Opening Brief should have been accepted by
Division III; alternatively, the December, 2019, Appendix

should have been accepted by Division III, given that the Respondents then filed 107 pages of Response Briefing.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division III summarized the medical events at issue:

After fracturing his tibia, Colton Behr underwent surgery at Deaconess Hospital in Spokane. Postsurgery, he experienced compartment syndrome, an unusual but foreseeable complication. By the time it was recognized, the tissue necrosis was so extensive that most of the muscle of the anterior compartment of his leg had to be removed.

Behr v. Anderson, 491 P.3d 189, 192 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021).

NOTE: Under RAP 10.4(f), Trial Exhibit D101 will hereinafter be referred to as "MR" for Medical Record, pages MR 1-298.)

Colton signed his consent for tibial repair surgery very late on 12/8/10. MR 19. Dr. Timothy Powers of Northwest Orthopedic Specialists (NWOS), on 12/14/10, presented a summary of the 12/8/10 surgery (late on 12/8/10, concluding early on 12/9/10) and aftermath in MR 20-21, which reads (emphasis added) that Colton:

... was taken to the operating room on 12/9/10, where an open reduction internal fixation of his lateral tibial plateau fracture was performed without complication... He had a slowly evolving apparent compartment syndrome over the course of several days with increasing pain and ultimately dense numbness over the dorsum of his foot with an inability to dorsiflex his foot by Sunday, the 12th... Ultimately, following a measurement of his compartment pressures on Sunday, 12/12/2010, he was taken to the operating room, Dr. Chris Anderson, for open fasciotomy with release of the anterior and lateral compartments...

The tissues were necrotic and Colton's anterior compartment had to be amputated leading to this lawsuit for medical negligence. The trial testimony of Dr. Blasingame – the doctor who removed Colton's dead tissue from his left leg – can be found at RP 1180-87. The Behrs' account is at CP 255-64 and RP 427-449 (Colton) and RP 374-406 (Cheryl).

NOTE: The history of the dismissal of Dr. Powers and Dr.

Lynch – and then their reinstatement by Division III – are only dealt with in passing, as review is not sought of the Division III reinstatement of those doctors.

Trial was held in May of 2018, with very late disclosures of evidence by NWOS summarized by Division III:

An amended case schedule order set a January 2018 trial date. In December 2017, the Behrs—complaining that Northwest Orthopedic and PA Bach never answered written discovery served in 2014—moved for an order excluding any evidence offered by them that would have been responsive to the unanswered discovery....

Among documents produced by Northwest Orthopedic for the first time in January 2018 was its record of the telephone message that PT Benage left for Dr. Lynch on Friday, December 10.

Behr v. Anderson, 491 P.3d 189, 198 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021).

NOTE: The internal NWOS email is also at CP 4048.

All messages of any time, and all responsibility schedules, during the relevant time (12/10/10 to 12/14/10) had been requested in discovery in 2014, and all defendants who answered swore that NWOS had no message system and no responsibility schedules. Page 34 of the Opening Brief (65-page version) summarizes the citations to the record:

The review of the answers and subsequent depositions are summarized, with exhibits, in CP 4694-4705, which reveals the most egregious of discovery

violations. For example, *REPLY Dec. of Plaintiffs* Counsel on NWOS Refusing to Answer Discovery filed on 4/17/18, detailed the failures of NWOS and its agents to produce messages or schedules. CP 4694-4705. See also CP 3904-3912 and exhibits at CP 3973-99, and see CP 4000-05, and exhibits at CP 4006-24. And see *Appendix No. 7*.

Division III summarized these long-withheld revelations made on the eve of trial (emphasis added):

Among documents produced by Northwest Orthopedic for the first time in January 2018 was its record of the telephone message that PT Benage left for Dr. Lynch on Friday, December 10. Also answered completely for the first time was its position on who had been on call on December 10. Like Drs. Lynch and Powers, Northwest Orthopedic had received the Behrs' interrogatory 39, asking which physician or physician assistant was assigned responsibility for Mr. Behr's care for "each period of time" during his hospitalization. In its supplemental sworn answer served in January 2018, Northwest Orthopedic stated, in relevant part:

Dr. Powers performed the surgery on Colton Behr on December 10, 2010 and was the on-call physician until he left town that day. On December 10, 2010, PA Mark Buescher examined Colton Behr. Dr. Lynch was the oncall physician after Dr. Powers left town. CP at 4703.

Behr v. Anderson, 491 P.3d 189, 198 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021).

NOTE: Dr. Anderson also "found" a medical record in his home. Dr. Anderson also took some pains to explain his late 2017 discovery -- "finding" at his home an exonerating 12/11/10 chart note -- more than seven (7) years after the fact, that had not been in the medical records. CP 2602 & Exhibit C, CP 2620, and Dr. Anderson explained it again at CP 3862 to 3866.

Default on liability, or trial continuance, had been sought as discovery sanction, and denied. CP 3680-81; CP 3904-3912; CP 3973-99; CP 4000-24; CP 5442-46; CP 5557-58; CP 5562-65: CP 5761-63; and CP 5835-36. Those motions were denied (supra) and trial proceeded in May, 2018. A defense verdict for NWOS issued after three days of deliberation at CP 6601-02.

At trial, Dr. Anderson gave his reasons for not doing a fasciotomy on suspicion of compartment syndrome. CP 1435-47. NWOS physician, Dr. Powers (who performed Colton Behr's surgery) and Dr. Collier (Colton's expert) said that a fasciotomy upon suspicion of compartment syndrome was the

standard of care, even if done prophylactically, as was summarized in the Opening Brief (65-page version at pages 48-49):

Additionally, Orthopedic Expert Dr. Andrew Collier stated that it was never a violation of the standard of care to do a fasciotomy upon any indication of compartment syndrome, even prophylactically. RP 709-710, and Appendix No. 21. Even Dr. Timothy Powers (of NWOS) testified as much at RP 467-68, Appendix No. 22.

The Behrs' requests for jury instructions, summarized in the Opening Brief (65-page version at pages 40-49) and cannot be summarized here under page limitations, and are addressed, below. (Division III did reverse as to physician's assistant law.)

The Behrs made motions for a new trial and to amend their complaint. Behrs' 6/4/18 Motion to Amend their Complaint (CP 6650-76) and their 6/4/18 Motion for a New Trial (CP 6612-49) were also denied at CP 6810-12 and CP 6845-46.

The appeal timely followed (slowed by a year for transcript preparation); and Division III reversed on sufficient issues to remand for trial.

The remaining issues on which Division III did not reverse the trial court are vital issues of law, and conflicting law, for the State Supreme Court to clarify for this case, and for the public as to future cases.

V. ARGUMENT UNDER RAP 13.4

A. Issue One: Discovery Sanction Necessary Against NWOS, et al.

As was noted in Section IV, Dr. Anderson "found" a medical record seven years after the fact. CP 2602 & Exhibit C, CP 2620, and Dr. Anderson explained it again at CP 3862 to 3866. The court would not allow any questions about this at trial. VRP: 1480-81.

Cited under GR 14.1, as an unpublished case, there is another instance of a physician finding an exonerating "personal handwritten journal of surgeries. *Driggs v. Howlett*,

192 Wash. App. 1070 (2016) (levying \$4000 in sanctions for tardy disclosure, and another \$1500 for a tardy protective order request – but the record came in to the jury).

Also cited under GR 14.1, a very recent unpublished case, *Reinhart v. Heller, M.D.*, the defense counsel "accidentally" showed video footage that the court had ruled inadmissible. Division III case no. 37081-0-III (a defense verdict in a suit brought for operating on the wrong vertebrae), filed 9/14/21.

It is only rational to observe that if errors were truly random, they would be equally incriminating and exonerating.

The court system is being abused when only exonerating "accidents" are occurring.

Under Magana v. Hyundai Motor Am. 167 Wash. 2d 570, 589, 220 P.3d 191, 200 (2009) and Washington State

Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wash. 2d 299, 342, 858 P.2d 1054, 1077 (1993), liability should be

imposed on NWOS, or at least a completely new trial against NWOS and all its agents.

Division III has reinstated Dr. Lynch and Dr. Powers as defendants, but has estopped the Behrs from arguing Dr.

Anderson violated the standard of care on 12/11/10 to 12/12/10.

Behr v. Anderson, 491 P.3d 189, 207 (Wash. Ct. App. 2021).

In this context, that ruling should be reversed.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2), the Division III opinion is contrary to the Supreme Court and appellate case law which sanctions the kinds of egregious discovery violations NWOS and its physicians displayed in the Behr case. This is a significant issue of law and of public interest (RAP 13.4(b)(3)&(4), if those discovery violations allow the trusted professionals with unique access to the facts feel free to hide those facts, or to "find" them years later in records kept at home in violation of all medical records protocols.

NOTE: Judicial notice can be taken of the implausibility that the NWOS electrical messaging system only had two messages

only two messages which happened to re-direct responsibility about Colton's symptoms being ignored toward Dr. Lynch and Dr. Powers after their dismissals from the case. The NWOS message system likely has a flood of unproduced messages.
That is a rational inference, not speculation.

B. Issue No. 2: Jury Instructions on Standard of Care

Division III did not address the res ipsa loquitur case law (and its jury instruction rejected by the trial court). The Behrs presented expert opinion sufficient to merit the instruction.

Citations to the record in the Behrs' Opening Brief include (pages 41-43):

Dr. David Cossman clearly presented at trial his expert opinion that when anyone is under direct medical care, even if intubated and unconscious, it is medical negligence if their compartment syndrome goes undiagnosed to the point of nerve and muscle damage to the point of loss of function. RP 1257-59, and in his initial 6/5/17 disclosure, CP 2104-11, esp. CP 2010, and in the 12/8/17 declaration of Dr. Cossman, CP 3125-30. See also *Appendix No. 15*. In conclusion, there was ample disclosure, and ample expert testimony, for Dr. Cossman's standard of care evidence to be presented to

the jury by instruction. It was legal error, and a prejudicial abuse of discretion, not to allow the Behrs' instruction to the jury.

The Behrs should have been allowed to present to the jury Instructions No. P-9 (CP 5778) — as well as Instructions P 2.1, P-3, P-9 and P-16, in addition to P-12, P-13, and P-14.

An analogous case would be the 1984 case of *State v*.

Allery, 101 Wash. 2d 591 (1984), in which the trial court rejected the battered woman defense, but the State Supreme court said, reversing and remanding:

The admissibility of expert testimony under this rule depends upon whether (1) the witness qualifies as an expert, (2) the opinion is based upon an explanatory theory generally accepted in the scientific community, and (3) the expert testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. State v. Canaday, 90 Wash.2d 808, 585 P.2d 1185 (1978). See generally 5A Tegland, Wash.Prac., Evidence § 288, at 25 (2d ed. 1982).

State v. Allery, 101 Wash. 2d 591, 596–97, 682 P.2d 312, 315–16 (1984).

Here, Dr. Collier and Dr. Cossman were qualified and presented their generally accepted view (mirrored by NWOS

Dr. Powers) that upon suspicion of compartment syndrome, a fasciotomy is performed.

To fail to put that standard of care to the jury was in conflict with appellate and Supreme Court case law under RAP 13.4(a)&(b). More importantly, the advance in knowledge that can be seen in *State v. Allery*, above, is a significant issue of law, and the protection of the public from inattentive medical care is a matter of public interest under RAP 13.4(c)&(d).

The res ipsa loquitur is a related instruction that should have been allowed by the trial court, as summarized at Opening Brief at p.42 (emphasis in the original):

That said, <u>Instruction No. P-16</u> is the excluded instruction most specific to this issue, as it precisely reflected the admitted expert testimony of Dr. Cossman, as supported by Dr. Collier. (Instruction No. P-16, which can be found at CP 5785, and at Appendix No. 16.) This instruction formulated res ipsa loquitur under Colton Behr's situation, as supported by Expert Dr. Cossman, Expert Dr. Collier, and by citation to Curtis v. Lein, 169 Wn.2d 884, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010), and other cases cited in Appendix No. 17.

See also, *Grp. Health Coop. v. Coon*, 193 Wash. 2d 841, 447
P.3d 139 (2019) and *Miller v. Jacoby*, 145 Wash. 2d 65, 74, 33
P.3d 68, 72 (2001) (The State Supreme Court applied res ipsa loquitur to hospitals and doctors in concert).

NOTE on the De Novo Standard of Review: Appellate review of a trial court's decision not to instruct on res ipsa loquitur is a de novo review of a question of law. *Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wash. 2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324, 327 (2003) (holding the plaintiff is entitled to the instruction, despite defendant's contrary evidence).

Strangely, Division III did not discuss the Behrs' request for a res ipsa loquitur instruction. The failure to give the instruction under qualified expert opinion is in conflict with the State Supreme Court and appellate authorities under RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2); and, once again, protecting the public from tissue death and loss of function due to post-surgical inattention is a matter of legal significance and of public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(3)&(4).

C. Defense Exoneration Instruction: Exercise of Judgment

The State Supreme Court is asked to revisit the "exercise of judgment" jury instruction – six telling years after it was upheld by a 5 to 4 vote, in *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182 Wash. 2d 794, 346 P.3d 708 (2015).

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