FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/10/2021 10:17 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 100262-9

From Court of Appeals No. 36222-1-III

CHERYL AND COLTON BEHR,

Petitioners,

V...

NORTHWEST ORTHOPEDIC SPECIALISTS, et al.

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

EVANS, CRAVEN & LACKIE, P.S. James B. King, WSBA # 8723 Christopher J. Kerley, WSBA #16489 818 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 250 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 455-5200 <u>ckerley@ecl-law.com</u>

Attorneys for Respondents Northwest Orthopedic Specialists (NWOS) and Non-Parties Patrick Lynch, Jr. MD, Timothy Powers MD, Christopher Anderson MD, and Leann Bach PA

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

Jury instructions are sufficient if they are supported by the evidence, allow each party to argue its theory of the case, and, when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182 Wn.2d 794, 802-03, 346 P.3d 708 (2015). In a medical negligence case, an instruction offered as an adjunct to the basic standard of care instruction is a "supplemental" instruction, and whether to give a supplemental instruction is within the trial court's discretion. *Fergen* at 802.

Behr proposed two supplemental standard of care instructions based on *Grove v. PeaceHealth, supra*, that addressed team liability/responsibility: P-13 (CP 5516; CP 5782) and P-14 (CP 5517; CP 5783). These instructions were properly refused for a number of reasons. First, and fundamentally, by the time the case was submitted to the jury, the only remaining defendant was NWOS, and the only remaining issue was whether Dr. Anderson violated the standard of care. Thus, any instruction on "team" or "collective" liability would have misled the jury into believing that NWOS could be found liable based on the negligence of some individual provider other than Dr. Anderson, including parties that had been dismissed.

Second, there is no legal concept of "team liability" or "team responsibility" in a medical negligence case that eliminates the need for a plaintiff to support his/her claim with expert testimony as to how a particular healthcare provider violated his/her standard of care. The assumption underlying Behr's proposed instructions was that Grove established a new legal theory for imposing liability on a healthcare provider. More specifically, Behr's contention was, and remains that Grove somehow relieved a plaintiff in a medical negligence case from having to prove the defendant healthcare provider violated his/her individual standard of care. That is a misinterpretation of Grove. There, the trial court gave WPI-derived instructions on respondeat superior and the standard of care, and the Grove court simply held that the evidence presented to the jury was

sufficient to demonstrate that each defendant failed to comply with his/her individual standard of care.

Moreover, Behr's proposed instructions on "team" or "collective" liability would permit one healthcare provider to be found liable for the negligence of another merely because both providers were part of a "team" that provided care to the plaintiff. There are legal relationships that allow one person to be held responsible for the negligent acts/omissions of another. Partnership is one example, where a tortious act or omission of one partner in the scope of the partnership's business is an act or omission of all partners. See WPI 50.14; RCW 25.05.100(1). Multiple individuals acting in concert is another. See WPI 50.20; RCW 4.22.070(1)(a). And an employer is vicariously liable for the tortious acts/omissions of an employee committed within the course and scope of employment. But one healthcare provider cannot be jointly liable for the acts/omissions of another provider simply because both provided care to the plaintiff. That would amount to a resurrection of joint and several liability which was

abolished by tort reform, save in the limited situations listed in RCW 4.22.070.

C. Dr. Anderson Did Not "Change His Position at Trial to Create an Informed Consent Case."

This alleged error is based entirely on the false premise that Dr. Anderson changed his position at trial. He did not. Throughout the case, his unwavering position was that he did not believe Behr had compartment syndrome and that, on December 11, 2010, given everything he reviewed, including PA Bach's note, and his history and examination, and based on his clinical judgment, Behr did not have compartment syndrome. RP 1401-02; RP 1458-59. Dr. Anderson only mentioned the risks associated with a fasciotomy to rebut Dr. Collier's testimony that any time there is "an indication or an inkling" of or "we suspect" compartment syndrome, the standard of care requires a fasciotomy. RP 742; RP 709. To counter this testimony, Dr. Anderson testified there are risks associated with doing a fasciotomy and that, accordingly, "you need an appropriate level of clinical certainty regarding the existence of compartment syndrome before you go ahead and do a fasciotomy." RP 1435. Dr. Anderson explained that a fasciotomy is a "significant undertaking" and that, accordingly, you do not do a fasciotomy on a "hunch" regarding the possible presence of compartment syndrome. RP 1436-37.

Based on the foregoing, Dr. Anderson did not change his position at trial and suddenly convert this case into one of informed consent, such that Behr should have been allowed a continuance or an informed consent instruction.

D. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Refusing to Give Behr's Proposed Instructions on the Standard of Care and *Res Ipsa* as Purportedly Articulated by Behr's Liability Experts.

1. <u>The Standard of Care in a Medical Negligence Case is</u> Defined by RCW 7.70.040, Not by Expert Witnesses

The trial court properly rejected these instructions for the simple reason that they were incorrect statements of the law. (See discussion of *Grove, supra*.) The standard of care is defined by RCW 7.70.040, and that definition is incorporated into WPI 105.01, which the trial court gave. It makes no difference that

Behr's experts wished to testify about "team" or "collective" responsibility. While an expert witness is certainly free to offer an opinion on what an individual health care provider must do to comply with the standard of care, it is not within the purview of an expert witness to define the legal standard of care for a jury instruction.

2. <u>The Trial Court Properly Refused Behr's Proposed</u> <u>Instruction on *Res Ipsa Loquitur* in this Alleged Failure to <u>Diagnose Case.</u></u>

As a threshold matter, Behr questions why the Court of Appeals did not address the trial court's refusal to give his proposed *res ipsa* instruction. The reason is found on page 376 of the Court's Opinion. The only Behr-proposed instructions the Court of Appeals considered were P12, P13 and P14, because those were the only instructions Behr identified by name, as required by RAP 10.3(g). The Court excused Behr's failure to provide a separate assignment of error for each instruction, but the Court only addressed Behr's challenges to instructions, given or not given, where Behr identified the instruction or proposed instruction by number. (P12, P13 and P14). Because Behr never identified his proposed *res ipsa* instruction by number, the Court of Appeals had the discretion not to consider that alleged trial court error. See e.g., *State v. Olson*, 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d 629 (1995).

Even if this court were to find the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in refusing to consider this issue, the trial court's rejection of the instruction (P16, CP 5785) was entirely proper. *Res ipsa* is applicable only when the evidence shows: "(1) the accident or occurrence producing the injury is of a kind which ordinarily does not happen in the absence of someone's negligence, (2) the injuries are caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant, and (3) the injury-causing accident or occurrence is not due to any voluntary or contribution on the part of the plaintiff." Pacheco v. Ames, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436-37, 69 P.3d 324 (2003). Whether res ipsa applies in a particular case is a question at law. Pacheco at 436.

Here, while the injury-causing occurrence was admittedly not due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of Behr, (element 3), the development of compartment syndrome and the failure to timely diagnose compartment syndrome are not events which ordinarily do not occur in the absence of negligence. Indeed, the central issue at trial was whether Dr. Anderson violated the standard of care by not diagnosing compartment syndrome earlier than December 12. But this court has recognized that misdiagnosis alone does not establish negligence. See *Reyes v. Yakima Health District*, 191 Wn.2d 79, 88-89, 419 P.3d 819 (2018), quoting *Fergen* at 809.

The court's refusal to instruct on *res ipsa* was also proper because Behr's injury was not caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of NWOS. When the case was submitted to the jury, Behr's claims against Deaconess had been dismissed, and the only liability issue, again, was whether Dr. Anderson violated the standard of care. Clearly Behr, during his stay at Deaconess, was not within the exclusive control of NWOS.

Behr insists that his proposed *res ipsa* instruction was appropriate because of his expert's actual, or potential, testimony that any time compartment syndrome develops in a hospital setting there has been a violation of the standard of care. While that may have been Dr. Collier's opinion, it was not shared by the Respondents' experts. And, as a threshold matter, it is for the court, not an expert witness, to determine whether an incident or event is of the type that ordinarily does not occur in the absence of negligence.

E. Giving the Error In Judgment Instruction Was a Proper Exercise of Trial Court Discretion.

The Court of Appeals did not consider Behr's claimed error relative to the error in judgment instruction because Behr failed to comply with RAP 10.3(g). But, even if this court were to find the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in that regard, the trial court's giving of the instruction was a proper exercise of discretion. As a supplemental instruction on the standard of care, the error in judgment instruction is discretionary and properly given in a medical negligence case where the doctor "faced a diagnostic or treatment choice that called on his or her judgment." *Fergen, supra,* at 804. While a physician must make a choice for the instruction to be appropriate, in *Fergen* the court made it clear that the phrase encompasses any exercise of professional judgment" in treatment or diagnosis. *Fergen, supra,* at 808.³

Here, Dr. Anderson used his clinical judgment to choose between the diagnosis of compartment syndrome and ordinary post-operative pain, decreased sensation, limitation of movement, etc. He also exercised his clinical judgment in determining what diagnostic tools to deploy, particularly

³ Significantly, one of the two consolidated cases in *Fergen* involved the alleged negligence of the defendants in failing to diagnose compartment syndrome. Like this case, the error in judgment instruction was deemed appropriate because of the choices made with respect to whether the patient's symptoms were caused by compartment syndrome or some other condition, and whether to perform compartment pressure testing.

compartment pressure testing. As the court recognized in *Fergen*, such a clinical situation presents a classic case for the error in judgment instruction.

Behr launches what is essentially a policy attack on the instruction, emphasizing that the court's decision in *Fergen* endorsing the instruction was 5-4. But Behr completely ignores the later case of *Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, P.S.*, 182 Wn.2d 842, 348 P.3d 389 (2015). There, the court, in a unanimous opinion, affirmed *Fergen* and rejected the appellant's challenge to the error in judgment instruction, noting that the appellant "does not raise an argument distinguishable from those raised in *Fergen*...". 182 Wn.2d at 852-853.

Behr also argues the error in judgment instruction was inappropriate because "informed consent facts" were used to "create the appearance of medical judgment." Behr contends that, because Dr. Anderson testified about the risks associated with a fasciotomy after Dr. Collier testified the standard of care required a prophylactic fasciotomy, not only did the case

suddenly become one of lack of informed consent, but this testimony made the error in judgment instruction inappropriate. What Behr is essentially arguing is that a plaintiff can manufacture an informed consent claim in the middle of a misdiagnosis trial by having his/her expert testify that the defendant should have prophylactically treated a plaintiff for a condition the provider never diagnosed. Then, if the healthcare provider responds by explaining why here he or she would never engage in such a course of treatment prophylactically, for a condition not diagnosed, the case suddenly becomes one of informed consent. This argument, however, ignores that failing to inform a patient of risks associated with a condition not diagnosed does not give rise to an informed consent claim. Gomez v. Sauerwein, 180 Wn.2d 610, 331 P.3d 19 (2014).

F. The Court of Appeals Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Rejecting Behr's 94-Page Opening Brief of November 2019 and then Striking Behr's Appendix.

This was a discretionary decision by the Court of Appeals

supported fully by the record. See State v. Olsen, supra.

G. Given the Jury's Determination that Dr. Anderson Did Not Violate the Standard Of Care, on Remand, Behr Should Not Be Allowed to Assert a Standard Of Care Claim Against NWOS Based on the Acts/Omissions of PA Bach

The Court of Appeals held the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow Plaintiffs' expert Andrew Collier, M.D. to address the standard of care applicable to PA Bach, and in dismissing that claim from the case. NWOS (and non-parties Lynch, Powers and Bach) argued in their brief that if the court erred in dismissing PA Bach, the error was harmless in light of the jury's verdict in favor of Dr. Anderson. The Court of Appeals, however, did not address this issue. NWOS moved the Court of Appeals for reconsideration of that aspect of its opinion, but the Motion for Reconsideration was denied, without explanation.

The Court of Appeals observed that "[i]t is clear from the record that the Behrs could have offered such evidence [that PA Bach breached the standard of care] from Dr. Collier. Court's Opinion, pg. 39. The pre-trial testimony of Dr. Collier relative to PA Bach was essentially the same as his testimony against Dr. Anderson: that both "missed" the diagnosis of compartment syndrome on Saturday, December 11, and that Behr's clinical picture and medical records were such that they should have conducted compartment pressure testing. CP 2159; CP 326-327; CP 329; CP 330; CP 331.

The erroneous pre-trial dismissal of a party is harmless if the jury, by its verdict, necessarily concludes that the conduct of the dismissed party was not negligent. See e.g., *Sehlin v. Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific R. Co.*, 38 Wn. App. 125, 686 P.2d 492 (1984) (where plaintiff's decedent killed by allegedly defective equipment, dismissal of employer of equipment operator, even if error, was harmless because jury determined that the equipment operator was not negligent). See also *Bundrick v. Stewart*, 128 Wn. App. 11, 114 P.3d 1204 (2005) (dismissal of informed consent claim against one party on summary judgment, although error, not prejudicial where jury, by its verdict, found that the patient did not refuse consent).

Both PA Bach and Dr. Anderson saw and evaluated Behr on Saturday, December 11. Behr's theory against PA Bach and Dr. Anderson was the same: that they were negligent on Saturday, December 11 for not reviewing Benage's physical therapy note from the previous day and for not diagnosing compartment syndrome or at least conducting compartment pressure testing.

The jury found that Dr. Anderson did not violate the standard of care. The Court of Appeals determined that the standard of care for PA Bach was the same as the one applicable to Dr. Anderson. Thus, the jury's determination that Dr. Anderson did not violate the standard of care should be given preclusive effect on whether PA Bach complied with the standard of care. Consequently, the dismissal of PA Bach and all claims against NWOS based on her alleged failure to comply with the standard of care, even if error, was harmless.

IV. CONCLUSION

The trial court's decisions relative to jury instructions, Behr's efforts to inject an informed consent claim into the case, and the court's refusing to default defendants on liability as a discovery sanction were proper exercises of trial court discretion. Accordingly, Behr's Petition should be denied.

Per RAP 13.4(d), NWOS respectfully requests that the Court hold that the trial court's error in dismissing PA Bach's standard of care claim was harmless and order that Behr, on remand, be precluded from advancing any claim against NWOS based on the alleged failure of PA Bach to comply with the standard of care.